FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/27/2022 4:20 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100970-4

No. 82405-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Terrace15, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondent,

v.

MR. YONG S. KIM and JANE DOE KIM, individually and the marital community thereof,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

INSLEE, BEST, DOEZIE & RYDER, P.S. Christopher W. Pirnke, W.S.B.A. #44378 Attorneys for Petitioners

10900 NE 4th Street, Suite 1500 P.O. Box 90016 Bellevue, Washington 98009-9016 Telephone: (425) 455-1234

Facsimile: (425) 635-7720

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals opinion sets forth the facts and procedure herein. Op. at 1-4. However, that opinion omits reference to several critical facts that impact this Court's review decision.

Largely omitted from Division I's factual discussion is how the lawsuit came to pass in the first place.

On or about July 20, 2018, a Commercial & Investment Real Estate Purchase & Sale Agreement was entered into by "Loft Haus – Terrace 15 LLC," as the seller, and "SYS Inc And/or Assigns" as the buyer, for the property located at "3430 15th Ave W, in the City of Seattle, King County, Washington" (the "PSA"). (CP 8). Neither the seller, nor the buyer, nor the property address exist. (CP 295). Notably, the Respondent is

not "Loft Haus – Terrace 15 LLC" but rather a completely different entity.

The PSA appears to have also been signed by Joshua Fletcher and Camila Fletcher, members of Terrace15, LLC ("Respondent.") A third individual also signed the agreement. Mr. Kim, one of the Petitioners, is adamant that he did not sign the PSA, and that he had no knowledge about the transaction. Respondent can point to no direct communication between itself and Petitioners regarding the transaction, nor does it provide evidence that Petitioners had knowledge concerning the transaction. (CP 366).

Prior to the PSA being executed by both parties, "seller's" real estate agent was aware that "SYS Inc" did not exist. (CP 318). Despite this understanding, the seller did not request that buyer's obligations under the PSA be guaranteed by an individual. Instead, the "seller" simply executed the PSA. Around the same time, the buyer also executed a

Promissory Note for the earnest money. (CP 320). The Promissory Note again reflects the "buyer," "seller," and address listed above; the note was not personally guaranteed.

On or around August 10, 2018, the "buyer" and "seller" executed an addendum whereby the buyer confirmed it had completed its due diligence and that it would deposit earnest money by August 13, 2018. (CP 322). The day after the agreed deadline to deposit the earnest money, the parties executed an extension and increased the earnest money to \$100,000. (CP 324). The "seller" was shortened to "Loft Haus," but the property address and the "buyer" remained the same. Concurrently with the extension, a new promissory note was executed. The promissory note was again made by "SYS Inc." without the addition of a personal guaranty. (CP 325).

Despite this, on April 15, 2020, Respondent obtained a summary judgment ruling against Petitioners on the basis that Petitioner are personally liable as a promoter of the non-existent

buyer. Regardless of whether Petitioners filed a response,
Respondents failed to establish that there is no issue of material
fact such that summary judgment should be granted.

Additionally, before the summary judgment decision, which was ruled upon without oral argument, on April 8, 2020, and April 9, 2020, two declarations were filed by Susann Kim¹ on behalf of Petitioners contesting the requested relief. (CP 156; CP 171.) While it is true that Susann was a defaulted party at the time the declarations were filed, these declarations were not filed by her as a defaulting party, but rather were filed for Petitioners. For instance, on April 8, 2020, Susann wrote a letter to the trial court stating: "The SYS LLC Young Kim and I Susann Kim like to continue the hearing on April 30, 2020[.] Because myself and Mr. Maxwell was negotiated the settlement to release the case... Please see the attached documents and let

¹ Petitioner Yong Kim and Susann Kim are siblings. For clarity, Susann Kim is referred to by her first name. No disrespect is intended.

us have continue on hearing." (CP 165). That same day,
Susann emailed the trial court stating: "Please review the
attached documents we have sent to the court this afternoon....
As the documents shows Young Kim and the SYS LLC has not
involved with this transaction." (CP 421) (emphasis added). In
other words, Division I and the trial court were incorrect when
they said "[Petitioners] did not file a response to Terrace15's
motion for summary judgment." Op. at 5.

Finally, it is undisputed that Susann did not receive proper notice of the Motion for Summary Judgment. Based on the Notice of Hearing that was filed, the Motion for Summary Judgment was not mailed to Susann, and Respondent does not contest that it did not give notice to Susann. (CP 90.)

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. <u>Division I's Decision Fails to Recognize That the Late Filed Declarations Were Submitted on Behalf of a Non-defaulted Party, and Therefore the *Burnet* Factor Apply.</u>

Division I found that *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 368-69, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015) should not apply because the late filed declarations of Susann were filed by a defaulted party that is not entitled to respond. Op. at 6. This determination is wrong. While Petitioners do not dispute that Susann's declarations were filed *by* her, it is incorrect to state that they were filed *for* her. Rather, the declarations were filed for Petitioners, and the filing of the declarations was no different than a third-party legal messenger filing pleadings.

On April 8, 2020, Susann wrote a letter to the trial court stating: "The SYS LLC Young Kim and I Susann Kim like to continue the hearing on April 30, 2020[.] Because myself and Mr. Maxwell was negotiated the settlement to release the case.

. . Please see the attached documents and let us have continue

on hearing." (CP 165). The same day, Susann emailed the trial court stating: "Please review the attached documents we have sent to the court this afternoon. . . . As the documents shows Young Kim and the SYS LLC has not involved with this transaction." (CP 421) (emphasis added). These communications makes it clear that Susann filed the two declaration on behalf of Petitioners. Even the Respondent, Terrace15, admits that Susann was filing the declaration on behalf of Petitioners. Appendix C [Resp. App. Br. at 5 ("In those documents, Ms. Susann W. Kim asserted that she represented both SYS LLC, herself and Mr. Yong Kim (A-000158)."] Respondent took a similar position before the trial court when it noted that "Ms. Susann Kim alleged that she had authority to communicate on behalf SYS LLC, herself, and Mr. Yong Kim," (CP 387), and argued that "Ms. Susann Kim is aware of the matter and has continued to file documents in this matter and has made correspondences to the court as the

alleged representative of SYS LLC and Mr. Yong Kim." (CP 391) (emphasis added).

It is clear from the record that, while Susann physically filed the supporting declarations, such declarations were functionally filed by Petitioners. As a result, Keck v. Collins is applicable, and the trial court must first consider the three Burnet factors on the record: whether a lesser sanction would probably suffice, whether the violation was willful or deliberate, and whether the violation substantially prejudiced the opposing party. Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 494, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997). By not considering the *Burnet* factors, the trial court committed clear legal error by refusing to consider the late filed declarations. Division I's reliance on CR55(a)(2) is inapplicable because it is not a defaulted party that submitted the late response. Rather, a non-defaulted party submitted the late response that just so happened to be filed by a defaulted party. Susann's filing of the declarations is no

different than a party using a legal messenger to file its response. Therefore, Division 1 was wrong to disregard *Keck*. Review of this key issue is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. The Trial Court and Division I Failed to Properly Consider Whether the Respondent Satisfied Its Burden on Summary Judgment.

Neither Division I nor the trial court address whether sufficient grounds existed to grant summary judgment. As this Court is aware, summary judgment can only be entered "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c).

Initially the burden is on the party moving for summary judgment to prove by uncontroverted facts that there is no genuine issue of material fact. *LaPlante v. State* [85 Wn.2d 154, 531 P.2d 299 (1975)] at 158 [531 P.2d 299]; *Rossiter v. Moore*, 59 Wn.2d 722, 370 P.2d 250 (1962); 6 J. Moore, *Federal Practice* ¶ 56.07, ¶ 56.15[3] (2d ed. 1948). If the moving party does not sustain that burden,

summary judgment should not be entered, irrespective of whether the nonmoving party has submitted affidavits or other materials. *Preston v. Duncan*, [55 Wn.2d 678, 681, 349 P.2d 605 (1960)] at 683 [349 P.2d 605], *see also* Trautman, *Motions for Summary Judgment: Their Use and Effect in Washington*, 45 Wash.L.Rev. 1, 15 (1970).

Jacobsen v. State, 89 Wn.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977) (emphasis added); accord, Zamora v. Mobil Oil Corp., 104 Wn.2d 199, 208–09, 704 P.2d 584 (1985); Graves v. P.J. Taggares Co., 94 Wn.2d 298, 302, 616 P.2d 1223 (1980).

As the moving party, the Respondent failed to meet its burden "irrespective of whether "Appellants" ha[ve] submitted affidavits or other materials." *Jacobsen*, 89 Wn.2d at 108.

On or about July 20, 2018, a Commercial & Investment Real Estate Purchase & Sale Agreement was entered into by "Loft Haus – Terrace 15 LLC," as the seller, and "SYS Inc And/or Assigns" as the buyer, for the property located at "3430 15th Ave W, in the City of Seattle, King County, Washington" (the "PSA"). (CP 8). Neither the seller, nor the buyer, nor the

property address exist. (CP 295.) Neither the Petitioners nor the Respondent are parties to the PSA.

As was noted to Division I, 1) Respondent did not have standing to sue Petitioners as it is not a party to the contract and the contract is void, 2) it was improper for Respondent to rely on RCW 23B.02.040 to impute personal liability to Petitioners as Respondent was aware at the time of contracting that "SYS Inc" was not a legal entity, and 3) Respondent provided no legal authority for why a real estate agent may bind Petitioners to a contract where Petitioners had no direct communication (oral or written) with Respondent such that Respondent could argue the real estate agent had apparent authority to act on the Petitioners' behalf. (Br. at 18-22).

Respondent did not have standing to sue Petitioners as it is not a party to the contract. Standing is a "party's right to make a legal claim or seek judicial enforcement of a duty or right." *State v. Link*, 136 Wn. App. 685, 692, 150 P.3d 610

(2007) (quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1442 (8th ed.2004)). CR 17(a) requires that "[e]very action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest." The purpose of CR 17(a) is to protect a defendant from a subsequent action by the party actually entitled to recover and to expedite litigation by not permitting technical or narrow constructions to interfere with the merits of legitimate controversies. *Beal v. City of Seattle*, 134 Wn.2d 769, 954 P.2d 237 (1998).

Here, there can be no dispute that Respondent is not a party to the contract. Rather, it was entered into by "Loft Haus – Terrace 15, LLC." (CP 298.) Respondent and Respondent's agent were aware that the name was incorrect before the PSA was signed, but Respondent apparently chose not to correct it. (CP 358.)

The PSA also failed to properly identify the property being conveyed, failed to properly identify the seller, and even failed to identify a real entity to purchase the property. As such

the PSA is void for violation of the statute of frauds. In 1955 this Court outlined "[w]hat elements are essential to a simple, valid and binding contract for the sale of land in an action for damages for breach." *Hedges v. Hurd*, 47 Wn.2d 683, 686–87, 289 P.2d 706 (1955). This Court ruled that a valid contract should specify the total purchase price, the method of payment of principal and interest, provisions for prorating taxes, insurance and liens, payments of water and other utilities, provisions for possession, provision for the deposit in escrow of the balance of the down payment to purchasers, and a warranty deed by the seller. *Id.* It is also generally understood that the identity of the parties is an essential element. See 6A Powell & P. Rohan, Powell on Real Property ¶ 880[1][d] (rev. ed. 1990); see also Wagers v. Associated Mortgage Inv'rs, 19 Wn. App. 758, 764, 577 P.2d 622 (1978) (Noting an agreement for the sale of land must "establish the subject matter, consideration, identity of the parties and the terms of the agreement.")

Finally, "to comply with the statute of frauds, Washington strictly requires a legal description of the property that an agreement purports to convey." *Geonerco, Inc. v. Grand Ridge Properties IV LLC*, 146 Wn. App. 459, 468, 191 P.3d 76 (2008).

Applied here, the PSA was entered into by "Loft Haus – Terrace 15, LLC," as the seller, and "SYS, Inc.," as the buyer, for the property located at "3430 15th Ave W, in the City of Seattle, King County, Washington". "Loft Haus – Terrace 15, LLC" does not exist and does not own the property located at "3430 15th Ave W, in the City of Seattle, King County, Washington".

Further, the address identified in the PSA also does not seem to exist. Despite the PSA referencing a legal description "Exhibit A", no legal description was provided. Given the lack of the legal description, lack of identification of the parties, and the improper address for the property, the PSA violates the

statute of frauds and is void. While it true that the statute of frauds may be satisfied by an agreement of the parties to have an agent insert a legal description, there is no evidence the legal description was ever inputted, and the legal description for "3430 15th Ave W" would clearly not be for property owned by Loft Haus - Terrace15, LLC as that property address does not exist. *Geonerco, Inc.*, 146 Wn. App. at 468.

Respondent's reliance on RCW 23B.02.040 to establish personal liability of Petitioners is also without merit. In its Motion for Summary Judgment, Respondent argued that Petitioners should be personally liable for the acts of SYS, Inc. as the company does not exist. RCW 23B.02.040 states that "[a]ll persons purporting to act as or on behalf of a corporation, knowing there was no incorporation under this title, are jointly and severally liable for liabilities created while so acting *except* for any liability to any person who also knew that there was no incorporation." (emphasis added.) There is no dispute that

prior to "Loft Haus – Terrace 15, LLC" entering into the PSA, Respondent was aware that SYS, Inc. did not exist. (CP 318; CP 358). The "seller" could have requested a personal guaranty, but chose not to. Instead, "seller" decided to "roll the dice." (CP 361). Respondent is unable to identify any direct "acts" made by Petitioners.

Respondent cannot argue that Petitioners should be liable when it was fully aware that SYS, Inc. did not exist and agreed to continue with the transaction anyway.

Respondent also provided no authority for why statements made by a real estate agent may bind Petitioners. "An agent can bind its principal to a contract when the agent has either actual or apparent authority. The existence of apparent authority is a question of fact for the trial court." *Hoglund v. Meeks*, 139 Wn. App. 854, 866, 170 P.3d 37 (2007) (citing *Smith v. Hansen*, 63 Wn. App. 355, 363, 818 P.2d 1127 (1991), review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1023, 827 P.2d 1392

(1992).) Apparent authority can be based "only on the principal's actions toward a third party and not based solely on the agent's actions." *Id*.

Petitioners had no direct communication (oral or written) with Respondent such that Respondent could argue the real estate agent had apparent authority to act on Petitioners' behalf. Because Respondent cannot even demonstrate that Petitioners had knowledge of this transaction, Respondent cannot show that Petitioners should be liable under a principal/agent theory and the summary judgment order should be vacated. Division I erred by not considering any of this. Divisions I's decision is entirely silent as to the merits of the summary judgment motion with the exception of "The trial court properly granted summary judgment for Terrace15." Op. at 7. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

C. <u>Division I Improperly Held That Petitioners</u>
<u>Lacked Standing to Challenge Entry of a Default Judgment</u>
<u>Against a Co-Defendant, Which Should Be Vacated.</u>

Quoting *Forbes v. Pierce County*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 423, 433, 427 P.3d 675 (2018) Division I held that "the validity of the judgment against Susann is not Yong's issue to appeal. 'A litigant cannot assert the legal rights of another person.'". Op. at 4. This analysis is incorrect and simplistic.

It well settled that Petitioners have standing to challenge the entry of the default judgment against Susann. *See In re Uranium Antitrust Litig.*, 617 F.2d 1248, 1256 n.32 (7th Cir. 1980) (allowing defendants, which were subsidiaries of defaulting parties, to challenge a default judgment as the non-defaulting defendants would be adversely affected by the default judgment and faced potential economic harm); *United States v. Harvey*, No. CIV. 13-4023-KES, 2014 WL 2455533, at *4 (D.S.D. June 2, 2014) (finding that non-defaulting individual defendant as the owner and alter ego of the defaulting corporation could challenge the entry of default); *Diamond Servs. Corp. v. Oceanografia SA de CV*, No. 10-0177,

2013 WL 312368, at *3 (W.D.La. Jan. 24, 2013) (finding that because the defendants were part of a single business enterprise, a non-defaulting co-defendant may challenge an entry of default against defaulting defendant). Because Washington's CR 55 is similar to the federal rule, federal case law is instructive.

Gillett v. Conner, 132 Wn. App. 818, 824, 133 P.3d 960, 962 (2006) ("When the language of a Washington rule and its federal counterpart are the same, courts look to decisions interpreting the federal rule for guidance.")

The United States Supreme Court has held that, as a general rule, judgment should not be individually entered against one defendant where other defendants are alleged to be jointly liable. *Frow v. De La Vega*, 82 U.S. 552 (1872) ("A final decree on the merits cannot be made separately against one of several defendants upon a joint charge against all, where the case is still pending as to the others.") The reason is:

[T]here might be one decree of the court sustaining the charge of joint fraud committed by the defendants; and another decree disaffirming the said charge, and declaring it to be entirely unfounded, and dismissing the complainant's bill.... Such a state of things is unseemly and absurd, as well as unauthorized by law.

Id. at 554. See also In re First T.D. & Inv., Inc., 253 F.3d 520, 532 (9th Cir. 2001) ("It follows that if an action against the answering defendants is decided in their favor, then the action should be dismissed against both answering and defaulting defendants.")

Here, the claims are inextricably intertwined such that judgment should not be rendered solely against Petitioners.

Petitioners previously filed a Motion for Default against Susann asserting that Petitioners "had no knowledge of [the transaction] until the dispute rose well after the contract allegedly formed." (CP 59-60.) The court specifically found:

as a result of Cross-Claim Defendant Susann Kim's fraud that she acted as if she had been a rightful agent or representative of Cross-Claimant Yong S. Kim's company, Cross-Claim Defendants are indebted to Cross-Claimants

(CP 75.) The trial court's order has not been challenged by Respondent, and is now a verity on appeal. *Metropolitan Park Dist. v. Griffith*, 106 Wn.2d 425, 433, 723 P.2d 1093 (1986) ("An unchallenged finding of fact is a verity on appeal.") Allowing a judgment against Petitioners would create the absurd situation where (1) the trial court has found Susann defrauded Petitioners and they were not involved in the PSA transaction and (2) Petitioners participated in the PSA transaction and are liable to Respondent. Both cannot be true. Entering two such orders is obvious error by the trial court, and Division I gave this issue no consideration.

Review of this key issue is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

VI. CONCLUSION

Division I's opinion is unjust and fails to properly consider binding precedent from this Court. Division I's analysis of Keck is incorrect because it failed to recognize that

Petitioners were ultimately the party submitting late-filed declarations. Additionally, Division I failed to consider, in any respect, whether Respondents met its burden on summary judgment.

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