FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/24/2022 1:25 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

### No. 100970-4

No. 82405-8-I Court of Appeals, Division I

### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Terrace15, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company

Respondent,

v.

Mr. Yong S. Kim and Jane Doe Kim, individually and the marital community thereof,

Petitioners.

### RESPONDENT ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Holmquist & Gardiner PLLC Robert Maxwell, WSBA #46636 Attorney for Respondent

HOLMQUIST + GARDINER, PLLC 1000 Second Ave, Suite 1770 Seattle, Washington 98104 p: 206-438-9083 f: 206-694-4601 rob@lawhg.net

#

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

### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Whether review should be granted is decided by reference to the considerations set forth in RAP 13.4. Petitioner asserts review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(2) on the grounds that Division I's decision is in conflict with decisions of this Court and reported decisions of the Court of Appeals.

### A. Division I's Decision is Consistent With Washington Precedent.

Division I's decision is an unpublished opinion that is not only consistent with Washington precedent, but makes no new law. Petitioner fails to show why review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or 13.4(b)(2).

i. <u>Division I's Decision to Affirm the Trial Court's Decision in Excluding Late Filed Declarations From a Defaulted Party is not in Opposition to Keck v. Collins and Does Not Warrant Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or RAP 13.4(b)(2).</u>

Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 369, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015), and Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 498, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997), involve a party's evidence that is sufficient and available at the time of decision but that is disregarded because it was tardily produced. Civil Rule 56(c) requires the nonmoving party submit supporting affidavits, memoranda, or law no later than 11 days before the hearing. In Keck, Plaintiff's counsel had submitted an affidavit of plaintiff's medical expert report timely, then a second affidavit after the 11-day limit imposed by CR 56(c). It was the third affidavit submitted by Plaintiff's counsel that was found by this Court to be an abuse of its discretion by not considering the Burnet factors before excluding it from the motion for summary judgment.

### Keck, 184 Wn.2d at 366-367.

On appeal, a ruling to exclude untimely produced documents is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 373-374. The trial court decision will not be overturned unless the trial court exercised its discretion on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. <u>Shaw v. City of Des Moines</u>, 109 Wn. App. 896, 900, 37 P.3d 1255 (2002).

Here, as Division I correctly noted, it was within the Trial Court's discretion and evidentiary ruling to find that the filings were made by a defaulted party (Susann) with orders of default entered against her by both Respondent and Petitioner. Op. at 6. "A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence lies within its sound discretion." Int'l Ultimate, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 122 Wn. App. 736, 744, 87 P.3d 774 (2004). Appellate courts will not overturn the trial court's evidentiary rulings absent a manifest abuse of discretion. *Id.* Division I noted the Trial Court's frustration with the 11<sup>th</sup> hour declarations, gamesmanship, and inexcusable neglect by Petitioner for not responding to Respondent's *second* motion for summary judgment. Op. at 2 - 4. The Trial Court properly excluded the untimely filed pleadings because Susann was not entitled to participate without leave of the court. CR 55(a)(2). As Division I's opinion points out,

this case differs significantly from <u>Keck</u> and "the trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding Susann's evidence without considering the <u>Burnet</u> factors. The trial court properly granted summary judgment for Terrace15." Op. at 6-7.

The Trial Court and Division I's holdings were proper and are not in conflict with <u>Keck</u> or other decisions of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or reported decisions of the Court of Appeals under RAP 13.4(b)(2). Petitioner continues to try to take another bite at the apple after inexcusable neglect, sanctions, delays tactics, gamesmanship, efforts to obfuscate the record, and confuse the court. The Trial Court and Division I properly noted this, and Petitioner has not met the burden for showing why this Court should expend its resources reviewing Division I's decision. Review on this issue must be denied.

# ii. Petitioner Asserts New Argument Not Before the Trial Court or Division I for the First Time in His Petition for Review.

The Supreme Court of Washington does not generally consider issues not raised before the appellate court. *See* Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998) (citing State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993)); State v. Clark, 124 Wn.2d 90, 104-

05, 875 P.2d 613 (1994) (Supreme Court generally declines to review issues not raised before a lower appellate court), reversed on other grounds by State v. Catlett, 133 Wn.2d 355, 361, 945 P.2d 700 (1997). Further, Petitioner presents no compelling reason why the court should address the issue here.

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence lies within its sound discretion. <u>Int'l Ultimate, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.</u>, 122 Wn. App. 736, 744, 87 P.3d 774 (2004). Trial courts are in the best position to view how a case has transpired and have the most experience enforcing local rules. Whether to accept an untimely filed affidavit is the sort of case management decision best left in the trial court's hands. *See* <u>Pitzer v. Union Bank of Cal.</u>, 141 Wn.2d 539, 556, 9 P.3d 805 (2000).

Petitioner asserts for the first time that Susann's declarations were filed for Petitioner and not on behalf of herself, a defaulted party. Petition at 7. Not only did Petitioner fail to raise this argument in the Trial Court, but Petitioner also failed to raise this in their Brief to Division I ("Petitioner's Brief"). In Petitioner's Brief, Petitioner devotes an entire section (page 16 of Brief) claiming the trial court abused its discretion by not considering the <u>Burnet</u> factors before striking the affidavit, *period*.

Petitioner's Brief is completely void of distinguishing between whether the late filed declarations were filed on behalf of Petitioner or Susann, a defaulted party. The irony of this new argument cannot be missed; Petitioner continues to assert that Susann had no authority to act on his behalf while also claiming (when convenient on appeal now) now that she had full authority to handle the litigation and was acting on his behalf. This Court must see through this disingenuous position and argument.

Division I's Opinion stated, "We will not overturn the trial court's evidentiary rulings absent a manifest abuse of discretion. <u>Id.</u>" Op. at 5-6. Division I properly concluded that the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion by excluding Susann's evidence without considering the <u>Burnet</u> factors not only because she was a defaulted party with orders of default entered against her by both Terrace15 <u>and</u> Yong/Petitioner, but because she also never moved nor requested leave to file untimely documents, was not an opposing party to the motion for summary judgement and was not entitled to participate in the summary judgment proceedings. Op. at 6-7.

Division I aptly noted how the Trial Court recognized this was the second motion for summary judgment Petitioner had failed to answer and "there just isn't any evidence whatsoever for his excusable neglect..." Op.

at 8. The Opinion goes further to state, "Yong explains no basis for relying on Susann, who was an adverse party against whom he had taken a default, to act on his behalf. It is wholly understandable that the trial court expressed the strong opinion that the failure to respond to the summary judgment motion was not excusable." Op. at 8.

Washington courts have consistently concluded that whether to accept an untimely filed affidavit is the sort of case management decision best left in the trial court's hands. *See* Pitzer v. Union Bank of Cal., 141 Wn.2d 539, 556, 9 P.3d 805 (2000). Again, Division I's Opinion in this matter is aligned with Washington precedent and did not abuse its discretion by excluding Susann's evidence without considering the Burnet factors.

iii. Petitioner Fails to Show how Division I's Holding
Affirming the Trial Court's Decision to Grant
Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment Should Be
Reviewed Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Petitioner asserts that neither Division I nor the Trial Court address whether sufficient grounds existed to grant summary judgment. Petition at 10. The validity of the purchase and sale agreement was before the Trial Court on summary judgement and Petitioner, without any excuse, failed to respond. Petitioner had two separate opportunities to respond to summary judgment motions and inexcusably failed to make any response. Petitioner

presented these arguments for the first time on appeal.

Appellate courts will not entertain issues or consider theories not presented below in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a), Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc., 164 Wn.2d 432, 441, 191 P.3d 879 (2008), John Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Ctr., 117 Wn.2d 772, 780, 819 P.2d 370 (1991). In addition, under RAP 9.12, the factual allegations raised by the Petitioner here should not be considered on review because it was not in the Trial Court's record as evidence or issues when summary judgment was granted for the Respondent.

Both the Trial Court and Division I found that "Yong did not file a response to Terrace15's motion for summary judgement. As a result, Yong failed to set forth specific facts or issues of law to defeat summary judgement. Terrace15 was entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Op. at 5.

As presented in Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, the facts concerning the purchase and sales agreement, seller and real property were not disputed. Respondent established that there was no genuine issue of material fact regarding the transaction and the burden shifted to Petitioner to establish specific facts to demonstrate the existence of a genuine issue of

material fact. Newton Ins. Agency & Brokerage, Inc. v. Caledonian Ins. Grp., Inc., 114 Wn. App. 151, 157, 52 P.3d 30 (2002). Petitioner, *twice*, did not file any response to the motion for summary judgment and thus, failed to meet the burden to establish an issue of fact to preclude summary judgment on the facts asserted.

iv. Not Erroneous for Division I to Hold Petitioner Lacked Standing to Appeal Co-Defendant's Default Judgment and Review Must be Denied Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Division I correctly quotes Forbes v. Pierce County, 5 Wn. App. 2d 423, 433, 427 P.3d 675 (2018), in support of its decision to hold it was not Petitioner's issue to appeal Susann's default judgment. However, Petitioner fails to include that the Appellate Court in Forbes first determined if the party had standing to make a legal claim or seek judicial enforcement of a right before determining if a litigant can or cannot assert the legal rights of another person. *Id.* Susann did not seek review of the decision. Division I's unpublished opinion regarding the validity of the judgment against Susann is not Petitioner's issue to appeal and is not in conflict with a decision from this Court or a published decision from the Court of Appeals under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), respectively.

Moreover, Petitioner has failed to show how vacating a default

judgment against Susann, a co-defendant in which Petitioner has a default order and judgment against, will be beneficial to him. Petitioner cites to federal case law, <u>Frow v. De La Vega</u>, 82 U.S. 552 (1872), to assert that Division I's analysis to hold Petitioner lacked standing to challenge entry of a default judgment against co-defendant, Susann, was improper.

The present case is distinguishable as it involves issues of joint and several liability whereas <u>Frow</u> involves only joint liability. Here, the entry of judgment against one but not all defendants is not precluded. (*See* <u>Sompo</u> <u>Japan Ins. Co. of Am. v. Network FOB, Inc.</u>, No. CV 13-02851 RSWL (JCGx), 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 198653, at \*6 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 6, 2013) Petitioner claims it is well settled that Petitioner has standing to challenge the entry of the default judgment against Susann citing <u>In re Uranium Antitrust Litig.</u>, 617 F.2d 1248, 1256 n.32 (7<sup>th</sup>. Cir. 1980), <u>United States v. Harvey</u>, No. CIV. 13-4023-KES, 2014 WL 2455533 (D.S.D. June 2, 2014), and <u>Diamond Servs. Corp. v. Oceanografia S.A. De C.V.</u>, No. 10-0177, 2013 WL 312368 (W.D.La. Jan. 24, 2013).

However, Petitioner's citation to <u>In re Uranium Antitrust Litig.</u>, 617 F.2d 1248, 1256 n.32 (7th Cir. 1980) is equally as unpersuasive and actually confirms that <u>Frow</u> does not preclude entry of a default judgment against

more than one, but less than all of the defendants when liability is joint and several. *Id.* at 1256. In addition, CR 54(b) allows for the entry of judgment against less than all defendants.

Petitioner relies on <u>United States v. Harvey</u>, No. CIV. 13-4023-KES, 2014 WL 2455533, at 4\* (D.S.D. June 2, 2014) to argue that he has standing to challenge the entry of the default judgment against Susann. In <u>Harvey</u>, the court determined that, while a non-defaulting defendant may have standing to challenge the entry of default on behalf of three defaulted *subsidiary* entity defendants, the challenger failed to show good cause to set aside the entry of default as to the defendants. *Id.* In deciding whether good cause exists to set aside an entry of default, the court considered: (1) whether the conduct of the defaulting party was blameworthy or culpable; (2) whether the defaulting party has a meritorious defense; and (3) whether the other party would be prejudiced if the default were excused. *Id.* at 10.

Here, similar to the court's analysis in <u>Harvey</u>, no good cause exists to set aside an entry of default. Susann had actively participated in this matter following defaults by both parties, and never once moved to vacate the defaults. Susann's conduct demonstrated a willful failure to comply with the civil rules or oppose the lawsuit. Additionally, there is no evidence

with the trial court Susann has a meritorious defense to the allegations in the complaint. Further, Respondent would be prejudiced if the entry of default were set aside after over two and a half (2.5) years of litigation. *Id.* at 11. Petitioner's arguments and conduct throughout the matter demonstrates the continued intent to ignore procedure, obfuscate the record, and manipulate and delay court proceedings. To reverse the Trial Court's Orders would reward Petitioner's obstructionist strategy.

Accordingly, review by this Court should be denied because it was not erroneous of Division I to hold the Petitioner lacked standing to challenge entry of Susann's default judgment when Petitioner also had a default judgment against the same party and co-defendant never moved to vacate it. Petitioner falls short in showing this Court why the defaulted judgment against a co-defendant should be vacated and reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2).

# B. The Court Should Award Respondent Attorney's Fees and Costs Under RAP 18.1.

Respondent is seeking an award of attorney's fees and expenses under RAP 18.1(j) for having to prepare and file a timely answer to the petition for review. Request for attorney's fees was previously denied by Division I for failing to devote a section of its briefing to the request as

required by RAP 18.1(b). Op. at 8-9. Under RAP 18.1(b), "requests made at the Court of Appeals will be considered as continuing requests at the Supreme Court, except as stated in section (j)."

Respondent is not only seeking attorney's fees under RAP 18.1(j) for its answer to this Court, but also request the opportunity to seek an award of attorney's fees that was denied in Division I. Respondent was the prevailing party in Division I because Appellant's request was denied. Op. at 1. Accordingly, upon prevailing in this Court, Respondent respectfully requests reasonable attorney's fees and costs be awarded under RAP 18.1(j) if this Court denies the Petition for Review and make a separate award under RAP 18.1 for fees incurred by Respondent in the Appellate Court as well.

Respondent/Plaintiff filed a complaint for breach of contract against Defendant/Petitioner in December 2018. The Trial Court granted summary judgment for Respondent after Petitioner failed to respond to the motion not once, but *twice*. Petitioner then moved to vacate the summary judgment on excusable neglect and vacate the default issued against Susann, a codefendant. The Trial Court denied Petitioner's request and so did Division I in its unpublished decision on March 14, 2022. Respondent prevailed on their contract claim and RCW 4.84.330 supports awarding attorney fees to

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